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Message from Board Chair 
Dear Friends & Colleagues, 

I have completed my second and final year as chairperson of 

the USE-IT board and I am very grateful for the opportunity and 

experience. My second term has covered an eventful time for 

USE-IT as an organization and an interesting for business in the 

waste beneficiation sector, in eThekwini and in South Africa as 

a whole.  

My second term started at the last AGM, so it would be a useful 

starting point to reflect on in this message. Our guest speaker 

had a vast experience in alternatively to landfill including 

waste-to-energy technologies, particularly anaerobic 

digestion (AD). 

Having been involved in both commercial AD plants in South 

Africa, the speaker touched on the challenges of not only 

finding the alternatives, but also getting them to work in the South African environment. Such 

challenges include the securing of funding, securing feedstock, and more importantly, doing 

proper research and development to safeguard such investments. Of the two plants mentioned, 

the larger one with an investment of over R 400 million, has since closed its doors in November 

2018 after opening in May 2018. Unfortunately, this has naturally put a negative stigma on 

alternatives to landfill in general and on anaerobic digestion in particular, despite being a 

widespread technology used for the same waste stream across Europe. The reason why the larger 

one hasn’t worked is probably multi-fold, but it stems from a lack of support for alternatives. This is 

by way of support for research and development, funding mechanisms, feed in tariffs, policy, 

extended producer responsibility, trade shows (to demonstrate new technologies), etc.  

All that being said, there is still a massive appetite for alternatives as awareness grows. More 

importantly, I have realized even more over this second term, that USE-IT is uniquely positioned to 

enable such solutions. Being primarily funded by the municipality, it has a strong link to local 

government. It is a non-profit and public benefit organization, meaning that its primary mandate 

is to tailor solutions for the public good. Finally, it has a track record of providing knowledge 

support to entrepreneurs and continues to do so. This has come to fruition with the completion of 

Phase 1 of the Hammarsdale Waste Beneficiation Centre, which is 1.5 hectares of an 8.2-hectare 

plot – a project which has a primary mandate of waste beneficiation with a focus on incubation 

of entrepreneurs. This project is unique in its purpose and has overcome many challenges to be 

where it is.  

So, what’s missing? For starters, there needs to be policy in place and enforcement of such policy 

to support some of the initiatives. Then it comes down to feed-in-tariffs, support for research and 

development, the funding mechanisms.  

Linus Naik 

Board Chair 
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There is scope for all of this, and much work is being done in many sectors, but often in isolation. 

Again, USE-IT is uniquely positioned to bridge such a gap and I foresee this as one of its most 

important roles in the near future.  

Some of our other recognitions over the last year (2018/19) have included:  

ENTITY AWARD RECEIVED 

Eco-Logic Awards 2018 Bronze Award – Recycling and Waste Management - Rambrick 

Eco-Logic Awards 2019 Silver Award – Eco Warrior – Chris Whyte 

Afrisam-SAIA Award Sustainable Architecture & Innovation - Rambrick 

Energy Globe National Award 2019 National award for Sustainability – Inspiring solutions on our 

doorstep 

 

There has also been some success in supporting recycling practices, (e.g. plastic), and some 

which are set-up in principle and will be ready to deploy once either legislation or the market 

catches up (e.g. glass and compressed earth block). USE-IT also champions advocacy via the 

KZN recycling forum and the Business Sustainability Forum (now under the banner of Circular 

Economy Club – Durban) and marketing.  

Finally, while USE-IT is primarily funded by the eThekwini municipality, one its mandates is to 

leverage funds to support its mission and promote economic growth of the municipality. There has 

been great success in this department too.  

Of course, chairing a board does not come without its challenges, but I was fortunate to have 

been surrounded by an enthusiastic board. Thanks to Jessica, Mark, Paulos, Quade and Heidi. 

Well done to Chris for taking the vision of the organization into practice.  

Special thanks to Phakamile and Thakalani for board oversight from eThekwini’s side. Thanks to 

Sally for looking after the books, and a very special mention to Belinda Putterill for the hard work 

which hasn’t gone unnoticed. A new year will bring new challenges. I myself will unfortunately 

have to step down from the board as I have other commitments. I wish the new chairperson all 

the best and bid everyone a fond farewell.   

Thank you! 

 

 

Linus Naik 
Board Chairman 
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Company Information 

Company Name: USE IT WASTE BENEFICIATION (RF) NPC 

Registration: 2008/005825/08 

(Section 21 Company Incorporated under the Companies Act 61 of 1973 as a NPO) 

Certificate: 089-770-NPO 

VAT: 4920274968 

Registered Physical Address: 

Suite 8, Bristol House 

1A Shongweni Road 

Hillcrest 

3650 

Telephone: 031 765 2349 

Website: www.use-it.co.za 

Email: info@use-it.co.za 

 

List of Abbreviations 

Abbreviation Description 

CEB Compressed Earth Block 

DEA Department of Environmental Affairs 

HWBC Hammarsdale Waste Beneficiation Centre 

NPO Non-Profit Organisation 

PBO Public Benefit Organization 

PSC Project Steering Committee 

ROI Return on Investment 
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Vision 
“To maximize waste diversion from landfill into waste beneficiation projects that create a multiplier 

effect of positive benefits to the environment, the economy and the creation of jobs” 

Purpose 
USE IT WASTE BENEFICIATION (RF) NPC is a Durban based Section 21 Company that identifies waste 

beneficiation opportunities in the eThekwini Municipal area that will help to divert waste from 

landfill and create employment in the green economy as well as provide a number of specialised 

services. 
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Executive Summary 

 

. 

 

 

 

  

Strategic Highlights 

The primary mandated responsibilities of USE-IT as an NPO remain the diversion 

of waste from landfill through waste beneficiation opportunities resulting in job-

creation and the development of a Green Economy. 

USE-IT continues is successes and is being recognized both nationally and 

globally for its efforts.  In addition to its primary mandated responsibilities, USE-

IT’s Public Benefit Organization (PBO) responsibilities also extend to the 

promotion and education / training programmes relating to environmental 

awareness; greening; clean-up and sustainable development projects; these 

include community development for previously disadvantaged persons, anti-

poverty initiatives through the provision of training support or assistance to 

emerging micro enterprises.  Lending to the improvement of capacity to start 

and manage business in the waste industry.   

USE-IT has delivered on its primary mandate for this financial year. 

USE-IT continues its successes and is being recognized nationally and globally 

for its efforts. In addition to its primary mandated responsibilities, USE-IT’s Public 

Benefit Organisation (PBO) responsibilities also extend to the promotion and 

education / training programmes relating to; 

• environmental awareness, 
• greening, 
• clean-up or sustainable development projects; as well as 
• community development for poor and needy persons, 
• anti-poverty initiatives, including the provision of training, support or 

assistance to emerging micro enterprises to improve capacity to start and 
manage businesses. 

USE-IT has received eThekwini funding to support cluster in the amount of;  

• R1.5M per year for 2010-2012 financial years and; 
• R2.0M per year for 2013-2015 and; 
• R2.1M per year for 2016-2018 
• R2.4M for 2018-2019 

Chris Whyte 
Specialist Consultant 

USE IT WASTE BENEFICIATION 

(RF) NPC 
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The Concept 
The concept of circularity is an essential mantra in 

the daily operations of USE-IT.  Nationally we have 

a naive view of recycling without understanding 

the full impacts that a lifecycle analysis would 

unpack.  We continue to drive recycling through 

informal collection systems and conventional buy-

back centers without addressing the inherent 

opportunities in realizing the full value of resources 

collected. 

USE-IT has made significant strides both locally and 

nationally through its education and advocacy 

initiatives in trying to bring the message of hope 

that we see as so pivotal to green economic 

development to those who need their definition of 

recycling expanded. 

In South Africa we still suffer from issues of 

sustainable geometry i.e. attempting to create 

circles in a box and silo mentality. South Africa has, 

at best, managed to achieve 10% recycling of the 

estimated 108 million tons of waste that goes to 

landfill each year. 

USE-IT have engaged at several levels in both the 

Corporate and Public Sectors to drive change in 

legislation, policy and attitudes.  Understanding 

the limitations in developing waste beneficiation 

can be strongly linked to legislation and 

regulations that are theoretically based and 

difficult to apply. 

The National Department of Environmental Affairs 

is planning significant strides to update both their 

view and the impact to unlock the inherent values 

in the resources we throw away.  USE-IT will 

continue to strengthen the relationships with the 

Department of Environmental Affairs (DEA) to 

drive a common vision forward that will better 

serve the Country. 

This is evident by the recent support of this 

department in promoting the Hammarsdale 

Waste Beneficiation Centers (HWBC) as one of 

national strategic importance considering the 

catalytic impact that this is already showing for 

the Green Economy. 

Whilst much of the efforts of the USE-IT team have 

been focused on the two main flagship projects, 

this has not detracted from the organizations 

support to many other smaller initiatives as is 

detailed in this report. 

A Key directive of the organization is to diversity 

and secure additional external funding for 

operational expenditure, this frustration is evident 

in the failure this year to secure funding for the 

glass beneficiation project which we had 

envisaged was going to be the third flagship 

project of this financial year.  USE-IT has continued 

to support many of the projects that we started 

and have been assisting many more to come to 

fruition.   

Our focus remains on: 

• Measures to improve supply chain efficiency 
and prevent the production of waste 

• Reduce the waste going to landfill by 
increasing reuse and recycling 

• Obtaining investment in clean technology and 
value adding to waste 

As always USE-IT relies strongly on its positive 

association with eThekwini Municipality as well as 

the other partnerships we have created that allow 

us to stick to the intellectual capacity and 

outcomes of our own organization whilst lending 

opportunities to partner organizations to also 

achieve their goals. 

USE-IT is firmly aware of the fact that no one person 

can be an island and as such strong partnerships 

are a necessity to bring in additional resources 

where we do not have the capacity.  These are 

symbiotic relationships and will always form a 

strong core of the ethos of the organization. 
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What is the Green Economy? 

The green economy is defined as economy that aims at reducing environmental risks and ecological 

scarcities, and that aims for sustainable development without degrading the environment. It is closely related 

with ecological economics but has a more politically applied focus. 

The green economy requires that economic development is decoupled from the use of resources and 

environmental degradation. Decoupling refers to reducing the environmental impact (in terms of both 

resource use and the generation of pollution and wastes) associated with any economic activity. A 

distinction can be made between relative decoupling (a reduction in environmental impact per unit of 

economic output), and absolute decoupling (a reduction in the overall environmental impact of an 

economy). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

“… Is one that results in improved human well-being and social equity, while significantly reducing 

environmental risks and ecological scarcities”.  (United National Environment Programme) 

“… Is fostering economic growth and development while ensuring that natural assets continue to provide 

the resources and environmental services on which our well-being relies”.  (Organisation for Economic Co-

operation and Development) 

“… is a fair and resilient economy, which provides a better quality of life for all achieved within the 

ecological limits of one plant”.  (Green Economy Coalition) 

“… implies the decoupling of resource use and environmental impacts from economic growth”.  (National 

Strategy for Sustainable Development, South African Department of Environmental Affairs) 
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Operating Highlights 
The operational funding secured from eThekwini 

for the 2018-2019 period facilitated the creation of 

at least an additional 70 Direct Jobs (35 were only 

4-month contracts so equated to 12 Full-Time 

Equivalents) as detailed in the proposals to the 

city used to secure the funding.  29 jobs created 

on Hammarsdale site, 10 Cathsseta interns, 12 jobs 

on glass processing, 4 additional jobs with 

SbuMeister and 3 with Siyanda). 

USE-IT was created to maximize waste diversion 

through creating sustainable jobs in the recycling 

and waste beneficiation sector.   USE-IT facilitates 

the development of various public and private 

recycling and waste beneficiation projects within 

eThekwini in association with local government 

and private sector support. 

It is important to note that the environmental 

impact through the initiatives of USE-IT have 

amounted to a significant return on investment 

(ROI). 

The many projects and initiatives USE-IT have 

created or supported to end June 2019 resulted in 

the recycling of 4,921 tons of plastic, paper, glass, 

cans and metal, green waste and e-waste. The 

Hammarsdale site also used 30,000m3 materials 

from the Rokwil development at the 

Hammarsdale Intersection. 

 This has created a recyclables diversion of 

23,768m3 of airspace diverted from landfill1 

equivalent to a savings to landfill of R7.13 

million this year at a cost estimate of R300/m³ 

(DSW). The 30,000m3 crushed stone, rock and 

fill waste diverted saves an additional R9m in 

landfill 

 For every Rand of funding received we saved 

R6.50 in landfill diversion illustrating that this is 

a cost-negative project for the city regardless 

of the job-creation, environmental, economic 

and social benefits created by USE-IT’s 

initiatives. 

USE-IT has been a leading example of what can 

be achieved through a focus on Green Economic 

Development and specifically with its focus on 

project development within the waste 

beneficiation sector. USE-IT’s efforts in the last 

financial year have facilitated the creation of 70 

direct jobs since its inception in July 2009 to the 

end of June 2019 the facilitation of the total 

number of jobs to 2662. 

The USE-IT Waste Materials Recovery Programme 

ensures that raw waste once buried in the landfill 

sites will provide some economic value to the 

community and economy, our function as a 

cluster for the eThekwini Municipality is depicted 

below: 
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Benefits of waste material recovery 
industry 

Recycling is one of the world’s top environmental 

success stories. It is an economic, social and 

environmental success story. Recycling has many 

benefits such as: 

• Value - recycling turns materials that would 
become waste into valuable resources. The 
recyclables end up on the market as 
commodities that are bought and sold;  

• Natural resources - Saving natural resources 
like minerals, water and timber; 

• Minimizing - Reducing the need to build 
landfills or incinerators, thus minimizing the 
impact on the environment and the cost to 
municipalities;  

• Financial - there is always an environmental 
and economic cost to any type of solid waste 
management, but recycling may be the least 
expensive approach with all things 
considered;  

• Economic - Generating significant economic 
benefits and entrepreneurial opportunities; 
such as value add and sustainable 
employment. Stimulating the development of 
green technology - recycling allows for and 
encourages the development of more 
environmentally and economically friendly 
products; 

• Environmental – creating value from waste 
reduces littering of the environment and 
associated pollution and local diversion and 
beneficiation reduce carbon emissions from 
recycling initiatives, reduced associated 
transport footprint and reduced methane 
emissions from decaying matter. 

Environmental Benefits 

Most people know that recycling plays an 

important role in managing solid waste that is 

generated in homes and businesses and that it 

reduces the reliance on landfills and incinerators. 

But recycling also is an important component of 

the environment. Supplying the industry with 

recycled materials rather than virgin resources 

extracted from forests and mines is 

environmentally preferable because it saves 

energy, reduces emission of greenhouse gases, 

and other dangerous air and water pollutants, 

and because it conserves natural resources.  

Saves Energy: 

Energy savings maybe the most important 

environmental benefit from the Materials 

Recovery, because using energy requires the 

consumption of fossil fuel and involves emissions of 

numerous air and water pollutants. The steps in 

supplying materials to industry (including 

collection, processing and transportation) 

typically use less energy than the steps in 

supplying virgin materials to the industry (including 

extraction, refinement, transportation and 

processing). Most energy savings associated with 

recycling accrue at least once with products 

being recycled again. 

Saves Natural Resources: 

Provides an opportunity to recover materials that 

would otherwise be lost to the economy by 

burying them in landfills. This project will help 

reduce the use of virgin materials such as trees, 

minerals, metal ores and oils.  

When one ton of steel is recycled 1134 kilograms 

of iron ore, 635 kilograms of coal and 54 kilograms 

of limestone are conserved, not to mention the 

energy requirements to extract, transport and 

process these commodities. 

Economic Benefits 

Recycling generates significant economic 

benefits that have been proven around the world. 

Recycling employs low, medium and highly skilled 

workers in a variety of jobs from materials handling 

and processing to high quality manufacturing. The 

drive for efficient handling and uses of recycled 

materials spurs innovation, a key to long-term 

economic growth. Investments in recycling 

equipment and the companies themselves also 

filter through the economy and contribute to 

economic growth.  
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Source reduction and reusability produces 

economic benefits. The use of reduced and 

reusable products results in less use of virgin 

materials. 

Many community recyclers earn an income from 

recycling collection. This creates business 

opportunities for entrepreneurs. Recycling 

provides a source of income for unemployed and 

underemployed, which operate as collectors.  

Unquantifiable benefits 

The quantified benefits of reducing solid waste 

from recycling are diverse and significant. 

Although some of the benefits are difficult to 

quantify, it is certainly important to note them.  

Landfilling of any organic waste in landfills results 

in methane production – a gas that has 21 times 

the global warming potential of carbon dioxide.  

Probably, more than half the waste being land 

filled in is organic in nature – in a landfill 

environment this material is digested 

anaerobically by micro-organisms to produce 

landfill gas that comprises methane, carbon 

dioxide, hydrogen sulphide and other toxic 

oxides.  Diverting this waste to an aerobic 

composting facility would eliminate the 

production of landfill gas and its associated bad 

smell and significantly decrease emissions and 

improve the air quality in the city. 

Landfill fires are also a common occurrence and 

cause severe toxic emissions that have been 

linked to poor health in adjacent communities 

from bronchial complaints to cancer.  Reducing 

this risk thus has huge social benefits, not to 

mention the economic benefits of reduced 

medical expenses.  Paradoxically, many of the 

landfill fires and random waste pile incinerations 

that take place are due to scavengers trying to 

extract metals from plastic-coated wires or tyres.  

Reducing the volumes to landfill saves capacity 

for city officials to spend more time on ensuring 

that the waste that does go to landfill gets 

properly managed and extracting these materials 

before the residual goes to landfill would 

completely eliminate the need for scavengers to 

start these fires. 

Reduced landfill volumes will also allow for greater 

capacity to be allocated to the proper 

management of wastes that often result in toxic 

emissions and leachate such as fluorescent bulbs, 

batteries, computers and cell phones (part of 

what we call e-waste), paints, oils and generally 

toxic substances that are hidden with other 

wastes before landfilling. 

Income Growth 

Presently, community recyclers are deriving 

incomes from waste materials that are being 

bought and sold on the open market as is.  In this 

instance, there is little value-add other than sorting 

and, occasionally, baling.  With little value-add 

between the buy and the sell, there is little room 

for profit margin, and these recyclers are very 

susceptible to market fluctuations on the bought 

price of materials.  As a result, their businesses are 

marginally viable.  If, however, we were able to 

capacitate the community recyclers through the 

provision of beneficiation equipment such as 

washers, grinders, granulators, balers and 

pelletizers, they would be able to attract greater 

volumes through their premises and add greater 

value to their commodities allowing them to 

generate greater profits and expand their 

businesses sustainably. 

Long Term Investment 

The long-term benefits from the project are that it 

would reduce a substantial volume of raw waste 

away from landfills.  

This results in limiting the number of new landfills 

there are being created, and greatly extends the 

capacities of the existing landfills to 

accommodate the management of waste for 

much longer periods.  

Beneficiated waste materials are then sold as 

commodities back into the system, which results in 

the conservation of virgin materials and the 

preservation of natural resources and savings in 

the production of raw materials into products.   
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As we prove the viability of such recovery projects, 

we will attract more investors to the city to make 

use of these raw materials.  We continue to search 

for new projects and applications that will valorize 

commodities such as plastics.  This last year we 

have also facilitated discussions with foreign 

technology providers that could see a unit 

developed in Durban that would process 3000 

tons of plastic per month into high-value waxes, 

oils and solvents.  This investment could be several 

hundred million Rands and create hundreds more 

jobs.  We have engaged with the City’s 

Investment Promotion Unit and International 

Relations departments to help drive this project 

forward to ensure the investment is made in 

Durban.  There is a current settling of the 

international plastics market after the Asian close-

down with Operation National Sword in China that 

has ripple effects across the globe in terms of 

recycling markets.  However, we are keeping on 

top of this to ensure that when the global markets 

stabilize that we are ready to bed down projects 

of this nature. 

Plastics SA reported 1 that in 2018, South Africa 

converted 1 876 250 tons of polymer into plastics 

products, an increase of 4.9% from 2017. 

This is the total of locally produced polymers, 

imported polymers and recycled polymers sold to 

local convertors in South Africa. Locally recycled 

polymer made up 18% of this total. 

South Africa recycled 352 000 tons of plastics into 

raw material in 2018. When compared to the 

recycling rate of 31.1% in Europe, South Africa has 

an input recycling rate of 46.3% for all plastics.  

The largest quantity of recyclables, 70%, was 

obtained from landfill and other post-consumer 

sources. In the European community, local 

government and the plastics industry are all 

 

 

1 National Plastics Recycling Survey 2018, Plastics SA, 
published July 2019 

involved in getting the recyclables out of the 

waste stream as early as possible. 

In South Africa, recyclables are sourced from 

landfill at high costs. Landfill material is of poor 

quality, contaminated and therefore, expensive 

to recycle. Process related wastage can be as 

high as 40% for post-consumer film and sheeting. 

Recycling facilities deal with fairly large quantities 

of one or two materials. Sixty one percent of 

incoming materials was sourced from the formal 

sector, collectors and waste management 

companies. Twelve percent was sourced directly 

from waste generators. 

Although very critical to the value chain, only 4% 

of recyclables were purchased directly from 

waste pickers and walk-ins. A further 3% was 

obtained from buyback- and drop-off centers. 

Waste pickers supply the collectors who add 

some value through sorting and compacting the 

collected waste before supplying it to the 

recyclers. 

Facilities have to be provided for consumers to 

separate recyclables from wet waste.  
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Infrastructure is required where the public can drop-off their recyclables for free, or for an incentive of sorts.  

Sorting at a centralised facility could be manual, semi-automatic or fully automatic – as long as it is suitable 

for the material mix and the volumes. Much cleaner, sorted, compacted recyclables will be available to 

recyclers if separation at source is regulated in at least the major centers. 

Overview of collection and recycling of plastics waste in Europe and South Africa: 

EUROPE  SOUTH AFRICA 

Recycling is based on environmental principles  Recycling is based on financial principles 

Accurate waste collection data  Accurate recycling output tonnages 

Recyclable waste is obtained from Separation 

at Source process 

 Waste pickers collect recyclables from curbside 

and landfills 

Community is involved because it is the right 

thing to do 

 Community will only do it if incentivized by 

money 

Up to 2018, the bulk of the recyclables were 

shipped to third world countries 

 Less than 5% of collected recyclables is shipped 

to processors outside South Africa 

Landfill restrictions for recyclables in at least 10 

European countries 

 64% of South Africans have access to waste 

management 

Recyclers utilize optical sorting 
 Manual sorting of recyclables, excluding PET 

bottles 

Very low recycling rates for flexible packaging  PE-LD films has an output recycling rate of 35% 

Black products are unrecyclable due to optical 

sorting 

 Manual sorters have no problem identifying black 

items 

Input recycling rate in 2017 of 31.1%  Input recycling rate in 2018 of 46.3% 

The average European is valuing its national 

heritage and lifestyle 

 Many South Africans live below the breadline 

and are fighting for survival 

 

 

The complete survey can be purchased through https://www.plasticsinfo.co.za/  from Plastics SA.
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Key Indicators and potential impacts/benefits for eThekwini Waste Processing 

Indicator Impact  

Cost of landfilling Conservatively figured at R300 per ton 

Volume of waste landfilled 

annually in eThekwini 
2, 215,000 tons (based on DSW 2008 figures) 

No. jobs created per 10,000 tons 

processed annually 
40 

10% diversion 
221,500 tons diverted, savings of R66 million per year, potential jobs 

created – 890, R68 million addition to economy plus multipliers 

30% diversion 
664,500 tons diverted, savings of R199 million per year, 2,600 potential 

jobs, R150 million added to local economy plus multipliers 

14% green waste diversion – 

Carbon Credits potential, ref 

www.carbonfinance.org  

750t/day green waste – 200m3 landfill gas/ton organic waste and 

357g methane/m3 = 72kgs methane/ton, equals 54 tons methane/day 

x 365 =19,700t methane/yr @ $105/ton methane carbon credit = $2.1 

million/year carbon credits. 

 

Project Deliverables: 

This table gives a summary of the job creation and waste diversion that have resulted from USE-IT’s activities 

in the 2018-2019 period: 

PROJECT NAME NEW 
JOBS 

TONS 
DIVERTED 

Soil & 
Rubble 

Plastic Paper / 
cardboard 

Glass Cans Metals Tyres Other 

HWBC 29 30000 30000 - - - - - - 2 

Siyanda 3 102 - 102 - - - - - - 

RecycleConnect 0 3517 - 3057 - - - - - 459 

Sbumeister 4 968.5 - 968.5 - - - - - - 

greenAble 0 97.5 - 20 - - - 38 - 39 

Songimvelo 0 236 - 236 - - - - - - 

Wildlands Glass 12 Stats not 
available 

- - - - - - - - 

TOTAL 48 34921 30000 4383 0 0 0 38 0 500 

m3 30000 30000 23230 0 0 0 38 0 500 

m3 Rate 1 5.3 3 1 1 1 3 1 

 

Volumes based on 1-ton plastics – 5.3m3 landfill, airspace, 1-ton glass, metals, cans – 1m3 landfill airspace.  1-ton paper or 

tyres – 3m3 landfill.  Indirect jobs based on plastics: 60kg / day 300 days per year, and glass: 100kgs / day 300 days per 

year. 
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Thuma Nina – 35 individuals on 4 month contract = 12 Full Time Equivalents 
 
10 Cathsseta Interns     10 
 
Total Direct Jobs from diversion:    48 
 
Total Direct Jobs:     70 
    
Total Landfill Airspace saved (Recyclables):  23 768 m3  

Total Landfill Airspace saved (Inert Waste):  30 000 m3  

 

Total Landfill saving equates to:  R7 130 400 (Recyclables) and R9 000 000 for inert waste 

In addition to the jobs, every Rand of funding received saved R6.50 in landfill diversion.  In addition we 

leveraged R500,000 through LifeCo for the Electronic Cemetery; R246,000 for the Cathsseta interns and 

R1,293,000 from the YES program, totaling R2,040,000 this year or 0.82 times our operational funding for the 

year.      

Project Delays: 
Glass Recycling Project: 

One objective of the deliverables for this financial year were to secure the funding for and start the 

implementation of the Glass Beneficiation Project. 

USE-IT still firmly believes that the Glass Recycling Project can create thousands of jobs across the City and 

the Province and are actively seeking receptive funding agencies.  We have since been assisting smaller 

collectors in the city to keep the momentum. 

USE-IT spent significant time and what limited resources we had available in developing this project at which 

point it was ready for funding, yet we were short listed with Zero Waste Scotland in the 2017 Circulars who 

didn’t even bat an eyelid at spending 38 million Pounds on their glass recycling initiative alone. 

The lesson to be learnt from this is that National Government support and funding is essential in unlocking the 

value chain of particular waste streams.   

To maintain the momentum USE-IT have temporarily moved their glass crushed and sieving units to the 

Wildlands recycling facility near Howick.  The reason for this is that Wildlands is one of the last remaining glass 

recyclers in KZN and process between 300 and 400 tons per month sold to Consol in Johannesburg.  Wildlands 

are effectively losing money on this project as the rate they pay their wastepreneurs and the logistical costs 

of transport of glass to Johannesburg means they are losing money on their glass recycling.  As they have 

the collection point there it made sense to move the glass crushing equipment there to prove the business 

case of the crushing where we can get 4-5 times the value for crushed glass. 
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We have employed an additional 12 YES staff to manage the glass processing facility there and are working 

on new market developments for the crushed glass in water filtration, sandblasting and fines for paint 

products.  Once we have the markets opening up we will move the facility down to Hammarsdale (expected 

late 2019) and grow the project from there.  With Wildlands we have also developed a new product in this 

last year we call the GreenBrick which we make from 30% mixed plastics and 70% glass 

With the Wildlands facility we have now secured some small market offtakes for crushed glass products, but 

still only about 5 tons per month.  We are continuously looking for new outlets. 

We are also working locally with Scott Bader in the Hammarsdale area to use their resins to create new resin 

counter-tops and surfacing products and this may bring in additional CSR funding into the landscape. 

In terms of the broader glass recycling project we have been engaging with KZN Economic Development 

and KZN CoGTA to address other possible funds for local promotion of the project. 

USE-IT intends to follow these open doors to attract significant further investment in this unique flagship 

development project.  
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Use-It Operations 

USE-IT is still severely lacking adequate resources to function to our full potential and while the city funding 

largely covers the office costs we are still desperate for additional staff to enable us to provide quality time 

inputs into other project developments.   

This has been significantly exacerbated this year with the efforts needed for the HWBC project development 

where the funding received covers only infrastructure development costs.  As such, all the planning, admin 

and development must come from the same small pool of resources we have at the office.   

To date there has been no progress on approvals of Operational Budget, but this has been submitted again 

to the city for review. 

New project development, fundraising and project support requires additional budgets in marketing & 

communications, research & development, business development support and international benchmarking.  

Without access to funds and resources we become reliant on leveraging from external agencies and this 

process significantly slows down progress. 

USE-IT is addressing options going forward to raise funds including using our SARS Section 18(A) status to get 

donations from corporate sector. 

To achieve the results that we do with the resources we have is commendable, and this can only be 

attributed to the incredibly driven and passionate staff that we have and the support of our Board and 

funders. 

USE-IT currently provides representation on the following forums: 

 Chair of the KZN Recycling Forum 

 Facilitates the KZN Business Sustainability Forum 

 Represents KZN at the National Recycling Forum 

 Hosts the KZN Recycling Forum and IWMSA’s joint Annual Seminar 

 Member of the African Marine Waste Network 

 Committee of KZN Marine Waste Network 

 Member of the KZN Economic Council – committee on Green Economic Development 

 African Circular Economy Network (ACEN), Country Leader for South Africa 

 United Nations Green Jobs Development Programme 

 Southern African Electronic Waste Alliance 

 Circular Economy Club 

 Operation Phakisa for the Chemicals and Waste Economy. Chair of Construction & Demolition Waste 

Steering Committee 

 Committee Member of the KZN Branch of Institute of Waste Management of Southern Africa (IWMSA) 

 World Resources Forum group on Secondary Materials 
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Flagship Projects 

 

 

The centre as designed to show case USE-IT’s 

Compressed Earth Block as the main building 

material.  In addition, other major green elements 

incorporated into the design included a bioswale 

for the treatment of Storm Water runoff from 

Processing areas and rain-water harvesting for use 

in the maintenance of hygrophilous plants in the 

bioswale.  This holistic design lends itself to further 

evolution beyond the completion of the first 

phase of the works. 

In the first phase of construction a processing 

area, administration building, ablution and 

kitchen block, an incubator block, a meeting 

area, a training room and a retail area to 

showcase and sell products manufactured on site 

have been constructed. 

The platform for stage 2 and bioswale were also 

constructed. 

The incubators are designed to accommodate 

community-type projects in waste beneficiation, 

waste to art and up-cycling production areas.  

Community based vegetable farming and 

training is also being introduced.   

 

 

 

In addition, USE-IT’s compressed earth block 

equipment has been relocated to the site. 

The main processing areas of the centre, in the first 

phase of construction, was originally designed 

around the Orange Bag update from the outer 

west region of eThekwini Municipality.  The other 

future phases will focus on e-waste and glass and 

this will grow over time to create designated areas 

for each of these projects.  USE-IT plans to initiate 

composting facilities on the site, which will be used 

to support organic farming applications.  Farming 

on site will include vegetable production as well 

as value-added applications such as traditional 

medicines and essential oils. 

All water harvested, this is not used in the Bioswale 

and admin sections, will be used on site for 

compositing and watering of organically grown 

products.  There is scope to add additional 

rainwater harvesting tanks to those already in 

place. 

USE-IT has a waste license for the centre and we 

are in discussions with a number of entities in the 

Green Economy to secure waste streams and 

Hammarsdale Waste Beneficiation Centre 
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have partnerships to provide rentable space that 

is available at the centre. 

Funding was secure through the Green Fund for 

the construction of Phase 1 and the project was 

completed within budget even through there 

were delays. 

To ensure the primary objective was met, USE-IT 

employed the services of a professional team 

relating to the design and construction of the 

facility.  The Professional Teams scope of work was 

set out in the original call for proposal in August 

2013 to: 

 Prepare a phased approach for the 
development for Scope of Services Stage 2 to 
Stage 6. 

 To prepare the necessary documents and 
drawings to allow for a tender process for 
phased construction of the project. 

The level of professional services that were 

provided were managed by ISF Services as the 

Construction Project Manager appointed as a 

separate entity from the other professionals to 

represent USE-IT. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The professional service providers appointed 

were: 

Scope Contractor 

Consortium Lead Jeffares & Green 

Architect MK Bhana Architects 

Quantity Surveyor Felix Msomi 

Space Planner MK Bhana Architects 

Green Consultant Jeffares & Green 

Civil Engineer Jeffares & Green 

Structural Engineer Jeffares & Green 

Town Planner Peter Jewell 

Traffic Engineer Jeffares & Green 

Electrical Engineer CA Du Toit 

Mechanical Engineer CA Du Toit 

Land Surveyor Button O’Connor 

Geotechnical Eng GeoZone 

Environmental Enviroedge 

SHERQ C&M Safety 

Fire Consultant Jeffares & Green 

Landscaping Enviroedge 

Topographical Survey Global Mapping SA 
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Construction was done by Robertson & Pool Construction who were invaluable in their approach and 

ensuring construction was completed on time and within budget. 

 

Budget Performance – Summary of Actual versus Budgeted: 

PROJECT NO: HWBC 001-2017 REGION: ETHEKWINI 

CITY/TOWN/PLACE:  ORIGINATOR: 

MPUMALANGA, HAMMARSDALE USE-IT 

PROJECT: SERVICE: 

NEW WASTE BENEFICIATION CENTRE CONSTRUCTION OF NEW WASTE BENEFICIATION 
CENTRE 

Contract Sum (including VAT @ 14%) R23,525,839.04 

Final construction cost (excl. VAT) R21,735,687.31 

Professional fees (excl VAT) R3,523,458.74 

Termination Costs on old site (excl VAT) R607,638.13 

Upfront Costs on new site (excl VAT) R204,341.25 

USE-IT income and expenditure (excl VAT) R2,619,875.00 

VAT Portion Paid Out R4,303,650.07 

Final Project Cost (incl VAT) R32,994,650.50 

Approved grant from Green Fund (incl VAT) R29,600,000.00 

Estimated shortfall on funding (VAT recover not incl) (R3,394,650.50) 

Estimated VAT Recovery R3,191,593.77 

Estimated Cashflow status (incl VAT) (R203,056.73) 

Contract period (in calendar months) 15 

Type of contract used JBCC PBA EDITION (ED 6.1 MARCH 2014) 
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Though our initiatives we proactively promote and 

facilitate economic growth in collaboration with 

the private sector, civil society and other 

municipal line function units, including other 

spheres of government. Economic growth 

through local investment has been slow and 

operational funding has not been obtained to 

operate the HWBC. 

USE-IT has established several partnerships to 

ensure that the facility is utilized and jobs are 

created through incubation programs held at the 

HWBC.  These partnerships include Impilo Yesibili 

(Pty) Ltd which is the implementing agent for 

identified projects; interns placed through the 

Youth Employment Services (YES) Program in 

association with Nedbank and Wildlands; and 

Heart Eco in their association with Man Trucks 

providing wood and other materials from 

imported components crated in for local 

manufacturing and assembly. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Our goal in the partnership is to accomplish the 

following: 

• Incubation and training of 72 individuals over 3 
years 

• SMME development of at least 2 Enterprises per 
year 

• Sustainability for next phase of incubation 
candidates 

We hope to further our progress in reaching these 

goals through the project outlined in this proposal. 

Problem Statement: 

Although USE-IT and Impilo Yesibili have initiated 

the first project “Ulusha Labadidyeli” meaning 

Youth Inventors and Makers, we have faced 

severe challenges relating to project funding. 

We have 29 trainees on site placed by the 

Wildlands/Nedbank YES Program, all of which 

have no previous work experience and are local 

Mpumalanga Township residents.  

Incubation and Skills Development 
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Of these trainees we have successfully identified 

11 for woodworking skills development and 10 

crafters with the remainder on landscaping and 

administration skills development.  Our objective is 

to provide skills to these local youth with the aim 

of identifying suitable SMME opportunities from 

within their ranks. 

Heart Eco has, through mutual agreement, 

provided the project with training on health and 

safety relating to the use of woodworking tools 

and basic stripping of wooden packaging crates.  

The wooden crates are purchased by Heart Eco 

from Man Trucks, who import engine and gearbox 

parts from Germany and Mexico.  Once these 

crates have been stripped and de-nailed the 

wood is resold into the marketplace. 

Heart Eco, however, has waste wood which 

cannot be sold back into the marketplace. This 

wood would become a landfill waste and due to 

the environmental integrity of Heart Eco and the 

innovation of USE-IT, we have found a use for this 

waste material at the HWBC incubation centre. 

The woodworkers are currently using small 

domestic tools such as a jig saw, small drill, a 

grinder and a cut off miter saw to manufacture 

products. 

We have no vices, planers, sanders, clamps or 

joiners for the facility, nor finishing products such as 

sealers, stains and varnish to produce a 

completed finished item. 

This is not ideal when approaching potential 

market streams to generate revenue such that we 

are able to subsidize the project into sustainability. 

Project Justification: 

The trainees have been onboard since March 

2019 and have already developed their skills 

exponentially during the last few months.  This 

includes manufacturing of the most basic items 

such as simple storage crates to tables, cabinets 

with drawers and doors, kitchen units, coffee 

tables and bathroom accessories.  Our aim is to 

have quality, locally produced products and 

handmade items that can be sold to the local 

community and local retailers, and eventually 

have this become an SMME in the Hammarsdale 

area. 

The trainees have been allowed to explore their 

creative skills and inventiveness by using only the 

most basic of tools, the potential for further 

development with the right equipment will help 

achieve this goal, while still realizing the goals and 

objectives of USE-IT by reducing waste wood to 

landfill. 

Project Activities: 

Phase one (March-June) 

• Training on basic tools and equipment that will 
be used during the manufacturing process 

• How to interpret plans, the importance of 
planning, and following guidelines for 
assembly 

• Finishing of the product for final inspection 
before sale.  

Activities: 

1. Power tools and equipment: the safe use of, 
cleanliness, proper stowing after use, 
inspections and servicing 

2. Basic plans involving initial sketches to final 
plans with detailed assembly and 
measurements 

3. How to prepare a plan, things to consider 
when tackling a project, repetitive nature of 
the plan, the importance of a well-structured 
plan both for expedience and understanding 
of what the finished product should look like. 
This planning is also essential in maximizing the 
use of the crate components in manufacture 
in a way that minimizes waste. 

4. The use of measuring equipment and how to 
read them as well as accuracy of 
measurement 

5. How to ensure a good finish on the work and 
types of finish that can be used - sanding  
principles and varnishing techniques. 

6. Examples of basic ideas and designs and how 
to turn them into workable plans. 

7. Theoretical exercise on designing and 
implementing the design through plan 
drawing. 
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Practical 

De-nailing and reclaiming wood (Heart Eco 10 

days training), tool instruction practice on wood. 

Manufacture of; 

• work benches 
• planter boxes 
• seating benches 
• stair rails, balustrades and cross-beams 
• crafters desks 
• wooden fencing (120m)  
• off-cut uses and; 
• site bins 

Phase two (July-Sept 2019) 

• Practical training and techniques in wood 
working 

• Small simple projects involving the use of plans 

Activities: 

1. The prospective wood workers will be given 
practical experience using the tools and 
equipment, proper techniques and dangers of 
incorrect use of the machines. 

2. Trainees will be issued with basic plans for 
simple projects and they need to interpret and 
produce the finished product. (i.e., small boxes 
for storage, small tables, picture frames, etc.) 
They will need to keep a record of hours spent 
for preparation, actual manufacture, finishing 
and materials used. This information will be 
used as part of the business training.  

3. Joining techniques using dowels: Dowel joining 
is one of the most common methods of doing 
hidden joints, which are strong and simple to 
do. Dowels are available off the shelf in most 
hardware stores, although they can be costly. 
It is cheaper to buy the dowel rod in lengths 
and cut to size. 

4. Joining techniques using conventional 
woodworking jointing and laminating 
practices 

5. Business training will be basic math skills utilizing 
the information gathered during the 
manufacture of the basic product, how to put 
a cost to this and viability of the product in 
relation to output. 

6. How to improve manufacturing time without 
compromising on quality, as the quality and 

cost of the finished article will ultimately 
determine the viability in the marketplace. 

Practical 

Manufacture of; 

• Trestle tables 
• TV stands 
• Medicine cabinets 
• Kitchen units 
• Bedside tables 
• Hose pipe reels 
• Bird boxes 
• Picture painting frames. 

Phase three (October-Dec 2019) 

• Business skills development and marketing 
• Commercial product range, imaginative 

product ranges 
• Different finishing techniques 

Activities: 

1. Emphasis on quality of finished products and 
finishing techniques 

2. This will be the final development phase which 
will see the trainees producing furniture 
products that are of a saleable quality. Honing 
of skills developed and preparation for possible 
SMME development by the qualified trainee.  

Possible projects 

Tables, chairs, desks, stools, small step ladders, 

head boards, small cupboards, shelves, book 

cases, picture frames, outdoor furniture, dog 

houses, sheds, bed bases, crates and storage 

boxes, jewelry boxes, tool boxes, bird houses, 

pallets, paneling (walls), drawers, bars, cabinets, 

planter boxes, recycling bins. 

Phase four (January – March 2020) 

Phase four will be the refresher course to sum up 

aspects learnt with emphasis on business 

development. It will also be used to reflect on the 

candidate’s personal growth during the training 

and work experience. 
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Activities: 

This phase will be focused on refreshing what has 

been learnt and taught over the past nine 

months, specifically focusing on entrepreneurial 

development, business development, fine tuning 

of skills acquired and final task rating.  

General 

Currently we have ten trainees on the woodwork 

program with a further ten on crafting. Both the 

teams would benefit substantially from having the 

equipment required to perform tasks.  

Our equipment consists of a small drilling machine, 

jig saw and two small grinders. The lack of 

sufficient tools delays the work output as the team 

has to share the units. This frustrates them as they 

cannot settle into the task due to the tool 

shortage.  

Hence the slow output of items, which limits what 

can be achieved both in terms of output and 

marketability. 

Equipment required 

1. Drill machines and wood bits 
2. Drill press 
3. Belt sanders, sanding pads and discs 
4. Planner thicknesses, planes (hand and 

electric) 
5. Table saw and circular saw 
6. Router 
7. Wood clamps 
8. Work benches with wood vice 
9. Chisels, screw drivers, spanners, paint 

brushes. 
10. Extractor fans 
11. Optional: wood lathe, band saw (for 

curved surfaces) 
12. Finishing products                 

Medium Term plan (2020-2021) 

To gain access to funding either through grants, 

business development funding or through 

corporate social responsibility funding to 

purchase the equipment required to upscale the 

project into a viable profitable and sustainable 

venture.  

This would not only reduce the time taken to 

manufacture items but would substantially 

improve the quality of the products. It would also 

further enhance the skill base of the trainees and 

could possibly lead to commercial production for 

retail through commercial outlets, which in turn 

would see the creation of more employment 

opportunities into the project.  

Longer term plan: 

The longer-term plan is to build a woodworking 

facility that would be a fully functional, 

commercial enterprise, that would see the 

permanent employment of some of the youth 

trained. 

We believe that Project Ulusha Labadidyeli is a 

worthy cause that will do a great deal of good for 

many people. We’re excited to partner with you 

to make this project a reality, leading to 

substantial benefits in the short, medium, and long 

term. 
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Some of the products that have 
been created by the project. 
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USE-IT Waste Beneficiation (RF) NPC has received 

the prestigious 2019 Energy Globe National Award 

for Sustainability.  The awards are known as 

“Nature’s Nobel Prize” and winners are selected 

by a jury made up of members from the UN 

Industrial Development Organisation, the World 

Bank and the European Renewable Energy 

Council.   

Founder, Chris Whyte, accepted the award on 

behalf of USE-IT from Andreas Pfleger, Deputy 

Head of Advantage Austria South Africa & 

Commercial Attaché at the Austrian Embassy, 

during the IFAT Africa Trade Fair at Gallagher 

Convention Centre in Johannesburg, which was 

held from 9 to 11 July 2019.   

USE-IT won the award for its flagship project, low-

carbon building system development RamBrick™.  

The RamBrick™ system converts waste soils and 

rubble from landfill into building products for all 

types of housing, with at least a third less carbon 

footprint than conventional materials. 

 

 

With more than 182 participating countries and 

over 2000 project submissions annually the Energy 

Globe Award is today's most prestigious 

environmental prize worldwide. It distinguishes 

projects regionally, nationally and globally that 

conserve resources such as energy or utilize 

renewable or emission-free sources.  The 

recognition from international groups such as 

Energy Globe is a boost to encourage us all to 

continue working to see large-scale 

implementation of projects like RamBrick become 

a reality. 

To date the RamBrick is still the first and only 5-Star 

rated Eco Standard Building product on the 

African continent and the development and 

proof of this concept has not only won USE-IT 

several local awards but also global recognition in 

sustainable technological development. 

Waste soil and builder’s rubble are well known 

nationally to comprise up to 40% on average of all 

waste going to landfill.   

 

Compressed Earth Block Project 
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When most people think about recycling they 

immediately perceive the issues relating to 

packaging wastes such as plastics and paper; 

and yet the packaging waste stream comprises 

only 30% on average of waste going to landfill. 

The only application for Compressed Earth Block 

(CEB) project was for it to be incorporated into the 

Hammarsdale Waste Beneficiation Centre 

(HWBC) site build, and a small church build in 

Shongweni, however as there were no further 

projects other than the supply of blocks to the 

construction of this site these projects the CEB 

project was mothballed. 

Looking Ahead 

• Local and national changes to Material 
Specifications 

• Unlocking Supply Chain Management and 
Preferential Procurement systems to unlock 
ABT’s 

• Develop and manufacture machines locally 
• Address Life Cycle Analysis issues to illustrate 

multiple benefits of ABT’s 
• Address SABS standards developed for ABT’s 

instead of multiple other compliance agencies 
that complicate the construction sector 

• Follow through on the momentum created 
through Operation Phakisa for the Chemicals 
and Waste Economy wherein several 
interventions were mooted for CEB application 
as well as rubble and glass crushing operations. 

Conclusion 

Although the whole process of introducing this 

project into the market has taken 8 years from 

conception, and it will probably take another 3 

years to reach maturity.  USE-IT has neither the 

mandate nor resources to take this further and 

without commercialization by a local partner in 

the next financial year, we will be forced to put 

this project into mothballs.   

We simply do not have the resources to fund this 

project any further.  In understanding the 

limitations USE-IT have regarding this project, we 

have undertaken to facilitate a different take at 

an arm’s-length through facilitation.  The issues we 

have faced with the equipment imported from 

the United States have underpinned the need for 

both upgrading the equipment to local conditions 

and developing local manufacturing of 

equipment to provide a product that is more 

suited to the local market at a lower cost that has 

local spares and support. 

USE-IT continues to engage with local engineers 

and CEB system designer George Burlow and the 

local Hydraform equipment providers to develop 

a new system locally for local manufacture at their 

Springfield production facility.  Unfortunately this 

last year the applications to fund this through the 

Technology Innovation Agency have not proven 

fruitful, but they are now assisting us with 

applications through the DTI’s SPII funding option. 

As stated, USE-IT will facilitate funding for this 

initiative and assist the project partners in bringing 

the system to market if, and only if, we can cover 

the costs for our own participation in this venture 

through leveraged funds. 

USE-IT will continue to lobby local and national 

government with respect to waste beneficiation 

opportunities for soil waste and builders’ rubble to 

help drive the market and develop the 

opportunities. 

Options with the City’s Business Development Unit 

for SMME development associated with Cornubia, 

The Tongaat Hullets Developments Social 

Development Team, current contractors on site 

for Phase 2 of Cornubia have failed to materialize.  

We are still looking at some private developments 

on the north coast to see if we can get the systems 

operational again. Also considering applications 

with Durban Green Corridors to relocate some of 

the equipment to their programmes so we can 

get operational again with their Dutch funders.  

For Operation Phakisa is was proposed for the 

implementation of 53 CEB production units across 

the country, but this will all be dependent on the 

availability of funding from government. At least 

the national initiative recognizes the offset cost 

benefits of landfill diversion. 
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A critical element of the work that USE-IT gets 

involved in is with project developments in waste 

beneficiation in all areas of the market from 

individual assistance, cooperative assistance, 

small-scale and micro-enterprise development 

projects and even medium to large-scale project 

developments if they all fit in with our mandate to 

divert waste from landfill and create jobs.  It is this 

work that gets USE-IT involved in every imaginable 

aspect of the waste stream and where most of the 

innovation and brilliance occurs.  The extent of our 

involvement will vary with every project 

development from just making the network 

connections to getting hands-on with prototype 

development, research & development, market 

analysis, leveraging funding, etc.   

This is one of the elements that USE-IT could 

improve on immensely given greater capacity 

and staff considering the wide diversity of 

opportunities that present themselves.   

Some of the stuff we do daily in terms of 

education, access to information, making 

connections, advising agencies and policy 

formation, etc., are not detailed in this report.  

Most of the larger projects we work with are 

described briefly below. 

USE-IT has continued its support of several projects 

throughout the 2018-2019 period, the list below 

details the projects supported by USE-IT: 

 Siyanda Recyclers 

 RecycleConnect 

 Sbumeister Plastic Recyclers 

 greenABLE 

 Songimvelo 

 Umgibe 

 EnviroTimbers 

 Tyre crumb tiles Van Dyck 

USE-IT has continued in its support of these 

initiatives, promoting their activities through 

exhibitions, development of offtake markets for 

their products, securing raw materials, creating 

linkages and networks, advice and product 

 

development, small equipment needs, business 

development support, etc. 

PROJECT NAME NEW JOBS TONS DIVERTED 

HWBC 29 30000 

Siyanda 3 102 

RecycleConnect 0 3517 

Sbumeister 4 968.5 

greenAble 0 97.5 

Songimvelo 0 236 

Wildlands Glass 12 Stats not available 

TOTAL 48 34921 

m3 30000 

m3 Rate 

 

In terms of the Memorandum of Agreement we 

have with eThekwini Municipality for 2019-2121, 

there are several elements related to Enterprise 

Development that need to be achieved: 

Business Development 

A key component of this was to leverage funding 

for the placement of 2 new Project Managers and 

one Fund Manager.  The unfortunate reality is that 

operational funding is extremely difficult to source, 

but we are still addressing new funding sources to 

ensure we achieve this within the three-year 

window.  What we have done is outsourced the 

Fund Manager option in agreements we have 

with several individuals and organizations that 

would be working on a purely commission basis.  

This is already opening some doors and we will 

work with them to try and tie down external 

funding. 

We were required through the MoA to develop 4 

new partnerships with waste beneficiation entities 

in the year.  However, we engaged with 17 

entities, and completed agreements with 6 of 

these: Shembe Church, Pandae Green Solutions, 

Enterprise Development Projects 
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InterWaste, Heart Eco, Impilo Yesibili and Jonssons 

workwear, and others are still pending. 

Enterprise Development 

A major component of what USE-IT does on a daily 

basis is the support of individuals, communities, 

new and emerging organizations and SMME’s 

regarding business development in the waste 

sector.  Many of these interactions are dealt with 

in daily emails and phone calls where we 

generally facilitate where we can with access to 

information or connecting with networks.  Some 

interactions require multiple meetings and 

engagements for assistance.  Part of our MoA is to 

support 4 Enterprises through the past year, but we 

assisted 25 Enterprises, but with more active and 

direct support through 13 of these.  This past year 

we have assisted Electronic Cemetery, Umgibe, 

Fat Fingers Jewellery, SbuMeister, Siyanda, 

Songimvelo, GreenABLE, DC Plastics, 

EnviroTimbers, RecycleConnect, AfriEco, Ulusha 

Labadidyeli, Musa Gwala. 

Leveraging Funding 

As part of out MoA we are required to achieve a 

1:1 funding ratio.  Whilst we normally exceed this 

over the longer period, 2019 was particularly slow 

probably in line with the economic collapse in the 

country and the political instability over the year 

when we had the national elections.  Regardless, 

we still managed to secure a 1:0.82 funding ratio 

with money secured through LifeCo for Electronic 

Cemetery, funding from Cathsseta for the 10 

interns and the funding from the YES program for 

the 29 staff at Hammarsdale.  We have submitted 

over R5m worth of proposals over the year that 

were not successful, but are still in negotiations 

with several agencies that we started with this 

year that could still yield results in the next financial 

year. 

Global Status Quo 

The sad reality we face locally is a massive 

downturn in the economy where funding is tight in 

all aspects and political uncertainty in the region 

has diverted attention away from economic 

development.  

Even locally the Orange Bag Curbside recycling 

program has effectively ground to a halt because 

of Supply Chain and Corruption issues, and this has 

also reduced the volumes of available materials 

for recycling by over 10,000 tons that has a 

massive impact on the value-chain. Even 

international events such as Operation National 

Sword by the Chinese government has played a 

hugely disruptive role in the local industry. 

With the local changes in government we have 

seen three Ministers this last year in the role of 

Environment since the unfortunate and untimely 

death of Edna Molewa who was a huge supporter 

of USE-IT (RIP).  This has also held up the 

implementation of the national Integrated 

Industry Waste Management Plans and the 

outcomes of Operation Phakisa.  We are hoping 

things will settle down this year and we ensured 

that we had a direct meeting with the newly 

appointed Minister Creecy after the May general 

elections. 

Recently we have seen the PET prices decline 

sharply, carboard markets low and uncertain, 

commons paper market collapse in KZN, glass 

recycling in KZN declining further and nationally 

we are seeing the biggest LDPE recycler in the 

country filing for liquidation.  We need to change 

the way we perceive recycling and focus more on 

the market beneficiation of materials else 

recycling operations will decline further and 

possibly collapse like we have seen 

internationally.  
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Siyanda Recycling have stabilised in the last year 

or so after restructuring the ownership after the 

patriarch of the company passed away.  Young 

Darrel and Nthando Khomo have done an 

amazing job to get the company back to 

profitability and their production levels are rising.   

Their main issues remain access to significant 

quantities of materials (to improve economic 

viability), access to clean materials and 

equipment to bulk and move materials to market. 

Their main source is still from the Rainbow Chickens 

facility in Hammarsdale and this is contaminated 

with chicken fats and blood.  Unfortunately, the 

only market they had for this was in 

Pietermaritzburg and transport costs killed much 

of the profit.  That market also died earlier this year 

when the facility they sold to went into liquidation 

while still owing Siyanda for tons of product 

delivered. 

USE-IT has assisted in finding alternative markets for 

some of this product, but the reality is very few 

recyclers want to handle plastics contaminated 

with meat products. This means they focus more 

on the cleaner products and those that can be 

cleaned with little effort. 

USE-IT is assisting Siyanda with a new opportunity 

this year with access to triple the volumes of 

materials that are also cleaner and easier to 

market, while also developing new markets for 

other materials they are sourcing. 

With limited financial resources USE-IT has 

continued to provide support and networks to 

Siyanda Recycling. 

 

 

 

  

 
 

Total KG's Sold KG's 

Jul-18 8820 4580 

Aug-18 9840 9110 

Sep-18 8680 8655 

Oct-18 0 0 

Nov-18 8760 6728 

Dec-18 6680 9055 

Jan-19 10700 8268.7 

Feb-19 8300 7080 

Mar-19 9940 8640 

Apr-19 8520 7227 

May-19 12060 11331 

Jun-19 10680 9149 

TOTAL 102980 89823.7 

Siyanda Recycling 
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USE-IT continues to support and promote this 

online portal from RecycleConnect driving 

suppliers and users to use the platform.  This unique 

suppliers’ and buyers’ interaction platform have 

also been promoted at National Recycling Forum 

level and to many national recycling 

organizations and has proven to be very 

successful in creating a market drive for recycled 

materials of all types.   

The last year’s stocks traded on the site for KZN are 

tabulated below: 

 Stock KG’s 

1 Nylon GF30 Regrind 3000 

2 LDPE 4600 

3 Acrylic 8000 

4 GPPS 21783 

5 Acetal 27262 

6 PC 48930 

7 ABS 56333 

8 PVC Rigid 60000 

9 EPS 64873 

10 HIPS 70654 

11 Reclaim Rubber 151710 

12 HDPE 185706 

13 Used Bulk Bags 308060 

14 PET 381873 

15 PP 2124295 

TOTAL 3517079 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1. SELLER POSTS WASTE MATERIAL 

 Easily make a FREE listing via the online 

form Seller specifies material price and 

details. They keep your company 

confidential until a connection is made. 

  

2. BUYER BIDS ON MATERIALS 

 Buyers browse potential materials 

required then request further details or 

make an offer RecycleConnect finds 

buyers and emails your prospective 

connection for your by-products. 

  

3. A MATCH IS MADE 

 You select the best connection to 

reduce your corporate waste and 

create a zero-waste business 

  
They only charge you a small % once a 

connection is made` 

 

RecycleConnect 
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USE-IT has continued with the support and 

enterprise development of Sbumeister Plastic 

Recyclers, however, despite having acquired and 

installed a ‘squeezer’ which has greatly assisted 

with reducing the moisture content, production 

did not achieve the production levels that were 

anticipated for the under mentioned reasons; 

 Regular breakdowns 
 Difficulty in obtaining enough quality used 

plastic materials regularly. 
 Cash flow problems. 

Early in 2019 it was identified that it was essential 

that a second wash plant be brought into 

operation to increase production.  This has taken 

longer than expected to install but should be in 

operation by the end of August 2019.  This 

installation will ensure: 

 Increased production. 
 Improved Cash Flow 
 Enhanced Maintenance programme 
 Avoid “down time” due to breakdowns. 

The last few years have really been difficult with 

about every conceivable problem occurring to 

this business. However, with the second wash 

plant in full operation it should result in this business 

really achieving its full potential. 

In the last month several new suppliers of used 

plastic have been found and addition new 

customers being secured.   

At present, the business is averaging over 3 tons 

per shift. 

2017-2018 
Jobs 

created 
New Total 

Jobs 60 4 64 

Tons waste diverted 968,5 

 

 

  

Sbumeister Plastic Recyclers 
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 12 million original printer cartridges enter the 

South African Market every year. Sadly, more than 

90% of these end up in landfill sites as most of us 

don’t recycle our empty printer cartridges. What 

most of us also don’t realize, is that empty printer 

cartridges require special disposal and should NOT 

be thrown away with our everyday garbage. 

Cartridges that are not disposed of correctly 

cause environmental harm. 

This negative environmental impact can be 

completely avoided if our empty printer 

cartridges are recycled. Recycling your empty 

printer cartridges has many positive spinoffs. 

Currently Green ABLE hosts 28 Beneficiaries. 19 of 

which are female and 9 of which are male with 

58% of youth. 

They have recently completed the learnership for 

2019 which was Production Technology NQF Level 

2. 

Social Impacts 

Offering workplace training and skills 

development for disabled people, primarily single 

mothers, who were once unemployed. These 

programmes increase their self-esteem and 

enable them to support their dependents. 

 
Employees are put through an Adult and 

Education Training (AET) programme, 

where they acquire knowledge and skills 

which enable them to be employed in 

better positions in the future. 

 Supply recycled plastic to government’s 

low-cost housing initiative. 

 

There is an extremely high level of functional 

illiteracy amongst disabled adults. greenABLE 

incubates Beneficiaries whilst they attend school 

and collaborates with a skills development 

training provider to ensure quality of learning and 

success for all our Beneficiaries.  

 

Adult Basic Education and Training (ABET) is the 

foundation towards lifelong learning and 

development, comprising of knowledge, skills and 

attitudes required for social, economic and 

political participation and transformation. ABET 

provides access to nationally recognized 

certificates. All training is audited by independent 

Assessors to ensure it is aligned and of a high 

standard. 

They also helped one of their Beneficiaries; 

Mfundo Sphelele Ntaka, obtain his learners 

license: 

 

 

 

 

 

Green ABLE 
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Economic Impact 

Creation of employment opportunities for 

greenAGENTS. 

 

 
Lifting beneficiaries out of 

unemployment by offering them 

education and work-experience 

programmes 

 Income generated from recycling 

covers the operational costs of running 

the enterprise. 

 

99% Unemployment in the disabled sector. All of 

our Beneficiaries have been awarded a funded 

Learnership, as well as receiving an income from 

our Sponsors.  

This income does not only benefit themselves but 

enables them to support their families. greenABLE 

has an Agent model which empowers people 

with physical disabilities to start up a cartridge 

collection business from their home.  

The greenABLE Agent project identifies suitable 

(usually homebound as a result of their mobility 

impairment) candidates with an entrepreneurial 

flair, encouraging them to become financially 

independent. 

 

 

In the past 3 years, greenABLE has grown 
significantly. From originally incubating just 2 
individuals to currently incubating and providing 
Employment and Skills Upliftment opportunities to 
44 previously disadvantaged disabled individuals 
(86% female & 56% youth). 

 

 

 

 

Environmental Impact 

Item Quantity 

Lasers collected 51 655 

Inks collected 219 

Toner bottles 7 708 

 

Item Quantity Metric 

Waste diverted      39 200 Kg 

Plastic diverted      20 056 Kg 

Metals diverted      19 143 Kg 

Steel diverted     15 802 Kg 

Aluminum       3 340 Kg 

kgCO2e saving   105 840 kgCO2e 

Energy saving 516 546 Km 

Litres of fuel saved 45 810 Litres 

Trees saved CO2        3 178 Trees 

 

 

RECRUIT INCUBATE 

EMPLOY 
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Green ABLE also started a few exciting projects which involve the recycling of plastic derived from e-waste 

products. This plastic is processed at Green ABLE and sold to Green Office where is molded into the “Eezigo 
Designed for mobility” Laptop Stand. This innovative and unique product is made using a sustainable “close 

the loop” solution. 
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The commercial wandering years: 

The 3 years covered in this report can be 

characterized as the years in which Songimvelo 

sought to grow its commercial viability and 

capacity.   

In this period Songimvelo had moved operational 

sites 6 times as it struggled to obtain stable 

accommodation with governmental and 

commercial partners.  The company’s limited 

finance which went into maintaining basic waste 

collection and recycling operations to optimize 

income and employment.  The theft of its vehicle 

in August 2017 (which was not insured by the Tirelo 

Bosha project management company) was a 

severe operational blow to Songimvelo.  

These years have allowed the organization to 

mature in its understanding of how the waste 

recycling market functions locally (supply and 

demand) and in its organizational, HR, operational 

and financial management capacities and 

imperatives. 

The company has nevertheless managed through 

these difficult 3 years to still achieve considerable 

success. 

The major highlights of this period are the 

following: 

1. Employment: Songimvelo has managed to 
continue employing 5 or more people on a 
consistent basis. 
 

2. Waste Education and Awareness Programmes 
(Schools): Songimvelo has increased the 
network of schools where it conducts 
environmental/waste awareness and 
educational programmes from 49 in 2015 to 
over 60 by 2018.  This was achieved with 
support from the Paper Recycling Association 
of SA (PRASA). 

 

 

3. Schools and Business Recyclable Waste 
Collection Service: Songimvelo has 475 bins 
distributed at 30 schools and 28 businesses.   
 
Its collection of these recyclables is slower than 
in the past due to the logistical challenge of 
not having a vehicle for this work and as a 
result has subcontracted most of its work to a 
partner company.   

 
4. Major Community Clean Up Campaigns: 

Songimvelo, during this 3rd phase of its 
existence did the following: 
 
a) 2016 – In partnership with Use-It and the 

Mr. Price Group undertook an education 
and cleanup campaign in Hammarsdale 
that reached approximately 300 people. 
 

b) 2016/17/18 – In partnership with the 
Msunduzi Municipality and Keep-
Pietermaritzburg-Clean undertook an 
education and cleanup campaign at the 
local Royal Showgrounds that involved 
approximately 50 schools as well as the 
general public.  Some 2,500 were 
reached in each year.  This is an annual 
agricultural exhibition.  
 

c) 2016/17/18 – In partnership Msunduzi 
Disaster Management, Keep-
Pietermaritzburg-Clean, UKZN and DUCT 
undertook an education and cleanup 
campaign at the Happy Earth Festival – 
an annual event at the Botanical 
Gardens.   Approximately 1,500 school 
children were reached in each year. 
 

d) 2018 – In partnership with Checkers-
Shoprite, Use-It and Wildlands undertook 
an education and cleanup campaign on 
Durban North Beach for Mandela Day.  
Up to 500 people were reached. 
 
 

Songimvelo 
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5. Landfill Diversion: Songimvelo managed to 
add a further 236 tons (2016-2018) to the 28.5 
tons of recyclable waste which it traded in 
2015.  This brings Songimvelo’s verifiable total 
contribution to landfill diversion between 2015 
and 2018 to 265 tons. 

Current activities: 

Although there was a delay from mid-2018 to 2019 

at the Kwapata Site due to politics and poor 

location Songimvelo have started setting up a 

new site.  They have not traded a lot of 

recyclables as the volumes have been low.  

During the delay many meetings were held to try 

to secure the new site and to source funding for 

the Hulamin contract. The met with Ithala Bank 

and SEFA for funding.  Fortunately, the Msunduzi 

Municipality and MEC’S supported the 

application for the land. 

They actively attended the Robinhood 

Foundation Entrepreneurs 4 Africa workshop that 

was held on 23rd and 24th of July 2019. 

In April they also provided environmental 

education in the Howick Area where the then 

MEC of EDTEA Mr. Sihle Zikalala was doing a 

launch of a project in Cedara; which showcased 

how Alien Plants could be used to produce 

Coffins. They also attended the UmVoti Project 

Launch that was held in Grey Town. 

Even though operations were slow they still 

provided environmental education and did the 

clean-up to a part of the Comrades Marathon 

and the Nelson Mandela Marathon. 

Songimvelo have also participated in the 

Msasibambane Environmental Project that 

included the Pietermaritzburg City Green Walk, 

Community engagement and Clean-up 

Campaign which started and ended at the 

Freedom Square Park, through these initiatives 

they were able to promote environmental 

education by distributing pamphlets. 

 

 

The growth and consolidation years: 

Phases 9 – 2019-2021 

Songimvelo stands at the juncture where the 

wealth of its experience and its growth over the 

past 8 years must consolidated into a growing and 

sustainable operation. 

The plans for this period are available in their 

current business plan. 

The headline outcomes for this period is the 

employment opportunities. 
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AfriEco and USE-IT completed the InvoTech 

funding programme on injection-moulding 

complicated multilaminate packaging into new 

products, and with a few complications on the die 

and extrusion side, we managed to complete the 

project in October 2017. 

The issue now is to scale this up and commercialise 

the project 

 

Given one of the intentions of this project is to 

increase public awareness about recycling and 

the potential to re-process materials that are 

currently thought not to be recyclable, we ended 

up choosing a product that would do this with the 

most receptive sector of the public; the 

youth.  We decided to create pre-school 

educational blocks from the waste. 

After a long and inclusive period of consultation 

with pre-school Principals and Educational 

Psychologists we developed graphics for the 

three applications of the blocks we chose to 

pursue initially. We obtained the correct font used 

to teach letters and numbers to pre-schoolers and 

came up with an innovative 3D puzzle to help 

teach second languages.  

At this stage we have completed printing and 

coating trials on the blocks, (as per photograph 

below) and we are now preparing to print the first 

sets for presentation to prospective sponsors and 

customers. 

The option now is to develop the market for the 

products and get this into mass production, yet 

this is going to acquire additional funding that we  

 

have yet to secure.  In the interim, AfriEco 

continues to manufacture its recycled bags and 

similar products, but this also needs greater 

market penetration to make this economically 

viable 

 

 

AfriEco 
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Marketing 
USE-IT has continued its increased focus on 

marketing its projects and programs in this 

financial year.  The online and social media 

platforms have been utilized as an effective tool 

and having this managed in-house has afforded 

a large cost saving to the Non-Profit.  The online 

presence of USE-IT with the Google AdWords 

campaigns has also significantly increased the 

volumes of traffic to the website. 

USE-IT has been featured in several articles in both 

provincial and national newspapers and is 

engaging with a couple of media companies in 

creating short documentaries for television. USE-IT 

have also made over a dozen presentations this 

past year at conferences, expositions and interest 

group or forum meetings. 

USE-IT continues to look for media options where 

we can increase our exposure, but this is 

complicated by the simple fact that we have no 

budget for media and communications.  This is 

essential in profiling any NPO to attract investors.  

The one opportunity we have is the good news 

created around our awards and achievements 

and we use every possibility to use these awards 

with media coverage to celebrate these 

achievements, or to provide editorial input to 

specialist publications.  We do have our own 

social media applications to communicate with 

the market, but mainstream media provides 

greater opportunities for broader exposure 

outside of our own network or contact database. 

Month Publication 

July 2018 The Crest Magazine 

September 2018 KZN Invest Newspaper 

April 2019 Business Sense 

 

 

 

 

Advocacy & Research 
According to USE-IT’s mandate set out in its 

business plan, one of the roles that needs to be 

fulfilled is the general advocacy of recycling and 

beneficiation in eThekwini Municipality. A 

description of the advocacy interventions that 

USE-IT is currently involved in are given below.  

KZN Recycling Forum July 2017-2018 

USE-IT facilitates the running of the KZN Recycling 

Forum monthly and disseminates information on 

the city’s recycling initiatives at these forums. 

However, given USE-IT’s increased focus on small 

scale Enterprise Development within eThekwini 

municipality the decision was taken to hand over 

the administration and running of the KZN 

Recycling Forum to Durban Solid Waste but the 

attendance of USE-IT at the forum has been 

ongoing. 

USE-IT’s activities within the KZN Recycling Forum 

over the 2017-2018 financial year are detailed 

below: 

Description Status 

Monthly Forum Meeting Completed 

Annual Seminar  October 2018 

TOPICS 

 Recycling Value Chain in SA: Presented by: 
Jacques Lightfoot, Plastics SA 

 Instill Pride Through Recycling: Sue 
Benningfield, Litter4Tokens 

 Understanding the Externalities of the 
Recycling Sector Locally and Globally: 
Chris Whyte, USE-IT NPO 

 Textile Waste an Untapped Resource: Heidi 
Cox 

 The challenges and opportunities of 
recycling in Ethekwini – from a recycler’s 
perspective: Khushma Mehta, Planet Care 

 One Planet Communities SA Introduction - 
Sarah Alsen 
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KZN Recycling Forum - Marketing: 

A very exciting development with the forum 

relates to the footprint within KZN, after a lot of 

work the existing logo for the Forum was redone 

and a website developed and launched.   

USE-IT currently funds the monthly costs for the 

website (which are minimal) and has also 

incorporated the KZN Recycling Forum Facebook 

Page on the USE-IT Facebook platform.   

The website has received new memberships and 

further discussions around charging a small 

membership fee to cover basic costs will be done 

in the new financial year. 

 

Mixed Advocacy 

USE-IT gets involved in a variety of advocacy 

engagements at community, local, provincial, 

national and international levels.    USE-IT is 

requested to attend many other events and 

chooses its involvement carefully based on what 

key outcomes can be obtained from this that will 

help the company to grow and achieve its own 

deliverables.  The mixed advocacy work USE-IT 

was engaged in over the 2018-2019 period is 

outlined below:  

Description Frequency 

KZN Recycling Forum Monthly 

eThekwini Monthly PSC Monthly 

 

 

 

 

 

Advocacy and Research 

One of the roles that needs to be fulfilled is the 

implementation of governance policies.  

A description of the governance interventions 

that USE-IT is currently involved in is given in this 

document. 

USE-IT PSC Meetings: 

USE-IT has engaged with the EDIPU to undertake 

monthly Project Steering Committee (PSC) 

meetings to give a better understanding of USE-

IT’s activities monthly to USE-IT’s primary funders, 

the eThekwini Municipality.    

Some of these PSC meetings take place at the 

premises of projects we have been assisting 

throughout the year which gives a more hands-on 

understanding to the municipality of what goes on 

in USE-IT’s daily operations.  We believe these 

meetings have served the company well in 

improving relations and the understanding of USE-

IT’s functions to the municipality. 

Business Sustainability Forum: 

The Business Sustainability Forum has been 

reconstituted under Durban Circular Economy 

Club which is an international recognized forum. 
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Financial Summary 
Board of Managements Responsibilities and Approval 

The directors are required by the Companies Act 71 of 2008, to maintain adequate accounting records and 

are responsible for the content and integrity of the annual financial statements and related financial 

information included in this report. It is their responsibility to ensure that the annual financial statements fairly 

present the state of affairs of the company as at the end of the financial year and the results of its operations 

and cash flows for the period then ended, in conformity with the International Financial Reporting Standard 

for Small and Medium-sized Entities. The external auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion 

on the annual financial statements. 

The annual financial statements are prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting 

Standard for Small and Mediumsized Entities and are based upon appropriate accounting policies 

consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates. 

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control 

established by the company and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control 

environment. To enable the directors to meet these responsibilities, the board of directors sets standards for 

internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost effective manner. The standards include 

the proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting procedures 

and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored 

throughout the company and all employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in 

ensuring the company’s business is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above 

reproach. The focus of risk management in the company is on identifying, 

assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the company. While operating risk cannot 

be fully eliminated, the company endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, 

controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined procedures and 

constraints.The directors are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by 

management, that the system of internal control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records 

may be relied on for the preparation of the annual financial statements.  However, any system of internal 

financial control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement 

or loss. 

The directors are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management, that the 

system of internal control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the 

preparation of the annual financial statements. 

However, any system of internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance 

against material misstatement or loss. 

The directors have reviewed the company’s cash flow forecast for the year to 30 June 2020 and, in the light 

of this review and the current financial position, they are satisfied that the company has or has access to 

adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. 
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The external auditors are responsible for independently auditing and reporting on the company's annual 

financial statements. The annual financial statements have been examined by the company's external 

auditors. 

Going Concern 

The board of management believe that the organisation has adequate financial resources to continue in 

operation for the foreseeable future and accordingly the annual financial statements have been prepared 

on a going concern basis.  The board of management have satisfied themselves that the organisation is in a 

sound financial position and that it has access to sufficient borrowing facilities to meet its foreseeable cash 

requirements.  The board of management are not aware of any new material changes that may adversely 

impact the organisation.  The board of management are also not aware of any material non-compliance 

with statutory or regulatory requirements or of any pending changes to legislation which may affect the 

organisation. 

Financials 

A big thank you once again must go to our DNKA Inc, company registration 2008/005825/08, as well as to 

Sally du Preez for the effective and efficient maintenance, preparation and tracking of all our finances.  

Directors Report: 

The directors believe that the company has adequate financial resources to continue in operation for the 

foreseeable future and accordingly the annual financial statements have been prepared on a going 

concern basis. The directors have satisfied themselves that the company is in a sound financial position and 

that it has access to sufficient borrowing facilities to meet its foreseeable cash requirements. The directors 

are not aware of any new material changes that may adversely impact the company. The directors are also 

not aware of any material non-compliance with statutory or regulatory requirements or of any pending 

changes to legislation which may affect the company. 

1. Nature of business 

Use It Waste Benefication (RF) NPC was incorporated and operates in South Africa with interests in the 

Services industry. 

The nonprofit company is involved in the identifiaction of waste benefication opportunities in the eThekwini 

Municipal area that will help to divert waste from landfill and create employment in the green economy as 

well as provide a number of specialised services. 

There have been no material changes to the nature of the company's business from the prior year. 

Review of financial results and activities 

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standard for Small and Medium-sized Entities and the requirements of the Companies Act 71 of 2008. The 

accounting policies have been applied consistently compared to the prior year. 

Full details of the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the company are set out in these 

annual financial statements. 
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Board of Management 

The directors in office at the date of this report are as follows: 

Directors Changes 

Chaplin JV  

Corder QRS  

Cox HD  

Liptrot MRM  

Naik L Resigned Tuesday, 01 October 2019 

Ngcobo PN  

Shaik Amod MA  

Whyte CR  

 

Auditors 

DNKA Inc continued in office as auditors for the company for 2019. 

Public interest score 

The nonprofit company's public interest score, as determined in accordance with the relevant provisions of 

the Companies Act 71 of 2008, is 8. 

Qualified opinion 

DNKA have audited the annual financial statements of Use It Waste Benefication (RF) NPC which comprise 

the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2019, and the statement of comprehensive income, 

statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 

annual financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In DNKA’s opinion, except for the possible effect of the matter described in the basis for qualified opinion 

section of our report, the annual financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 

position of Use It Waste Benefication (RF) NPC as at 30 June 2019, and its financial performance and cash 

flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standard for Small and 

Medium-sized Entities and the requirements of the Companies Act 71 of 2008. 

Basis for qualified opinion 

In common with similar organisations, it is not feasible for Use It Waste Benefication (RF) NPC to institute 

accounting controls over collections from government or municipal grants prior to the initial entry in the 

accounting records. Accordingly, it is impractical for DNKA to extend their examination beyond receipts and 

accruals actually recorded. 
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DNKA conducted their audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Their responsibilities 

under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the annual 

financial statements section of our report. They are independent of the company in accordance with the 

Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (IRBA 

Code) and other independence requirements applicable to performing audits of annual financial 

statements in South Africa. They have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA 

Code and in accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to performing audits in South Africa. 

The IRBA Code is consistent with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants (Parts A and B). We believe that the audit evidence they have obtained is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion. 

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in their professional judgement, were of most significance in our 

audit of the annual financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context 

of our audit of the annual financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do 

not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

Except for the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section, we have determined there are no 

other key audit matters to communicate in our report. 

Other information 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Directors' Report 

as required by the Companies Act 71 of 2008, which we obtained prior to the date of this report. Other 

information does not include the annual financial statements and the auditor's report thereon. 

Our opinion on the annual financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 

an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with their audit of the annual financial statements, their responsibility is to read the other 

information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the annual 

financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work they have performed, they concluded that there is a material misstatement of this 

other information, and are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
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USE-IT Annual Financials June 2018-June 2019 

Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2019 

 Notes 2019 R 2018 R 

Assets     

Non-Current Assets    

Property, plant and equipment 2 25 363 190 23 982 923 

Current Assets      

Trade and other receivables 3 176 570 1 296 264 

Cash and cash equivalents 4 2 788 521 4 121 354 

  2 965 091 5 417 618 

Total Assets  28 328 281 29 400 541 

  

Equity and Liabilities      

Equity      

Retained income  28 324 928 29 367 785 

Liabilities      

Current Liabilities      

Trade and other payables 5 3 353 32 757 

Total Equity and Liabilities  28 328 281 29 400 541 

 

Statement of Comprehensive Income 

  Notes 2019 (R) 2018 (R) 

Revenue  2 557 170 11 139 574 

Other income                                                                                           6 - 41 824 

Operating expenses  (3 770 529) (3 399 841) 

Operating surplus / (deficit) 7 (1 213 359) 7 781 557 

Inestment revenue 8 170 502 619 327 

Surplus / (deficit) before taxation  (1 042 857) 8 400 884 

Other comprehensive income  - - 

Total comprehensive surplus (deficit) for the year  (1 042 857) 8 400 884 
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Statement of Changes in Equity 

  
Accumulated 

income 

R 

Total equity  

R 

Balance at 01 July 2017 20 966 901 20 966 901 

Surplus for the year 8 400 884 8 400 884 

Other comprehensive income - - 

Total comprehensive loss for the year 8 400 884 8 400 884 

Balance at 01 July 2018 29 367 785 29 367 785 

Deficit for the year (1 042 857) (1 042 857) 

Other comprehensive income - - 

Total comprehensive income for the year (1 042 857) (1 042 857) 

Balance at 30 June 2019 28 324 928 28 324 928 

 

 

Statement of Cash Flows 

 Notes 2019 R 2018 R 

Cash flows from operating activities      

Cash (used in) / generated from operations 10 (123 068) 6 610 193 

Interest Income  170 502 619 327 

Net cash from operating activities  47 434 7 229 520 

 

Cash flows from investing activities      

Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (1 380 267) (19 032 764) 

Disposal of property, plant and equipment  - 123 540 

Net cash from investing activities  (1 380 267) (18 909 224) 

    

Total cash movement for the year  (1 332 833) (11 679 704) 

Cash at the beginning of the year  4 121 354 15 801 058 

Total cash at end of the year 4 2 788 521 4 121 354 
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 Notes to the Financial Statements  

2 Property, plant and equipment 

  2019 2018 

  Cost or 
revaluation 

Accumulated 
depreciation 

Carrying 
value 

Cost or 
revaluation 

Accumulated 
depreciation 

Carrying 
value 

Leasehold - Buildings 25 003 660 - 25 003 660 23 623 393 - 23 623 393 

Plant & machinery 2 882 872 (2 536 121) 346 751 2 882 872 (2 536 121) 346 751 

Furniture & fixtures 28 712 (26 173) 2 539 28 712 (26 173) 2 539 

Motor vehicles 277 044 (270 947) 6 097 277 044 (270 947) 6 097 

IT Equipment 27 804 (23 661) 4 143 27 804 (23 661) 4 143 

Total 28 220 092 (2 856 902) 25 363 190 26 839 825 (2 856 902) 23 982 923 

  

Reconciliation of motor vehicles, plant and equipment—2019 

  
Opening  

balance 
Depreciation 

Closing  

balance 

Leasehold improvements – Buildings 23 623 393 1 380 267 25 003 660 

Plant and machinery 346 751 - 346 751 

Furniture and fixtures 2 539 - 2 539 

Motor vehicles 6 097 - 6 097 

IT Equipment 4 143 - 4 143 

 23 982 923 1 380 267 25 363 190 

 

Reconciliation of motor vehicles, plant and equipment—2018 

 
Opening 
Balance 

Additions Disposals Depreciation 
Closing 
balance 

Leasehold improvements – Buildings 4 590 629 19 032 764 - - 23 623 393 

Plant and machinery 955 614 - (110 037) (498 826) 346 751 

Furniture and fixtures 5 329 - - (2 790) 2 539 

Motor vehicles 48 488 - (13 500) (28 891) 6 097 

IT Equipment 9 117 - (3) (4 971) 4 143 

 5 609 177 19 032 764 (123 540) (535 478) 23 982 923 

Details of properties 

Leasehold improvements - Buildings for the Waste Recycling Centre and Benefit Centre on leased land situated on 

Portion 2 and 3 of Farm Lot K No 7610 FT in Hammarsdale 

- Additions since purchase 23 623 393 4 590 629 

- Capitalised expenditure 1 380 267 19 032 764 

 25 003 660 23 623 393 
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3 Trade and other receivables 

 2019 R 2018 R 

Trade receivables 62 721 - 

Prepayments - 4 598 

Deposits 14 684 14 684 

VAT 7 165 1 169 482 

Other receivable 92 000 107 500 

  176 570 1 296 264 

 

 

4 Cash and cash equivalents  

 2019 R 2018 R 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:     

Cash on hand 4 945 - 

Bank Balances 2 783 576 4 121 354 

 2 788 521 4 121 354 

 

 

5 Trade and other payables  

 2019 R 2018 R 

Trade payables (4) (5) 

Payroll Accrual 3 357 32 761 

  3 353 32 756 

 

 

6 Other Income 

 2019 R 2018 R 

Recoveries - 1 360 

Insurance Claim - 2 004 

Profit on sale of asset - 38 460 

 - 41 824 
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7 Operating (loss) profit 

Operating (loss) profit for the year is stated after accounting for the following: 

 2019 R  2018 R 

Operating lease charges   

Equipment   

 Contractual amounts 31 401 - 

Lease rentals on operating lease – 1   

 Contractual amounts 117 997 414 701 

 149 398 414 701 

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment - 535 478 

Employee costs 1 170 338 1 936 328 

 

  

8 Investment revenue 

Interest Revenue 170 502 619 327 

   

 

9 Taxation 

No provision has been made for 2019 tax as the non-profit company is exempt form normal income taxation in terms 

of section 10(1)(cN). 

 

 

10 Cash (used in) generated from operations 

 2019 R 2018 R 

(Loss) profit before taxation (1 042 857) 8 400 884 

Adjustments for:   

Depreciation and amortisation - 535 478 

Interest received (170 502) (619 327) 

Changes in working capital:   

Trade and other receivables 1 119 694 (698 232) 

Trade and other payables (29 403) (1 008 610) 

 (123 068) 6 610 193 
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11 Commitments 

 2019 R 2018 R 

Operating leases – as lessee (expense)   

   

Minimum lease payments due   

Within one year 257 194 233 812 

In second to fifth year inclusive 483 690 740 883 

 740 884 974 695 

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the non-profit company for certain of its office properties.  

Leases are negotiated for an average term of six years.  No contingent rent is payable. 

 

 

12 Related parties 

 

Relationships   

Entity with common director – Impilo Yesibili Proprietary Limited   

Members of key management – CR Whyte   

Related party balances and transactions with key management personnel of the company or its parent 

   

Related party transactions 2019 R 2018 R 

Consulting fees   

CR Whyte Associates 196 038 - 

Business development expenses   

Impilo Yesibili Proprietary Limited 1 459 486 - 

 

 

13 Directors remuneration 

 2019 R 2018 R 

Executive   

2019 Emoluments Total 

CR Whyte 403 959 403 959 

2018   

CR Whyte 814 364 814 364 
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14 Comparative figures 

   

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified.   

The effects of the reclassification are as follows: 2019 R 2018 R 

Statement of financial Position   

Property plant and equipment - 23 623 393 

Accumulated surplus - (23 623 393) 

 

 

15 Going concern 

The annual financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going 

concern.  This basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of 

assets and settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of 

business. 

 

15 Events after the reporting period 

The directors are not aware of any material event which occurred after the reporting date and up to the date of this 

report. 
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Income Statement 

 Notes 2019 R 2018 R 

Revenue      

Development Bank of Southern Africa Limited Grant  - 8 812 089 

Donations received  83 572 - 

eThekwini Municipality Grant  2 473 598 2 100 000 

Project income – Inner Waste Proprietary Limited  - 11 325 

Project Income – Robertson and Poole Construction cc  - 147 278 

Project Income – Verbaan Construction Property Limited  - 68 882 

   2 557 170 11 139 574 

Other income      

Recoveries  - 1 360 

Insurance claim  - 2 004 

Profit on sale of asset  - 38 460 

Interest received 8 170 502 619 327 

   170 502 661 151 

    

Expenses (refer to detailed income statement)  (3 770 529) (3 399 841) 

(Loss) profit for the year  (1 042 857) 8 400 884 
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Detailed Income Statement 

  2019 R 2018 R 

Operating Expenses    

Accounting Fees  54 576 47 428 

Administration and management fees  20 421 - 

Advertising  6 950 18 040 

Auditors remuneration  26 285 21 258 

Bank charges  4 994 21 154 

Business development – fundraising  1 558 531 25 609 

Computer expenses  600 - 

Consulting and professional fees  322 131 - 

Depreciation, amortisation and impairments  - 535 478 

Employee costs  1 170 338 1 936 328 

Entertainment  6 118 37 149 

Hire  16 465 17 058 

Insurance  16 465 17 058 

Lease rentals on operating lease  149 398 414 701 

Materials  - 9 266 

Meetings and conferences  5 965 17 058 

Motor vehicle expenses  3 304 25 000 

Municipal expenses  161 353 7 885 

Office expenses  12 170 12 643 

Printing and stationery  511 - 

Subscriptions  30 064 19 032 

Telephone and fax  22 696 15 943 

Travel – local  193 016 137 346 

  3 770 529 3 399 841 
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Summary 
The 2018/2019 financial year has been a tough 

one with a huge amount of time and resources 

dedicated to the initiation and completion of the 

Hammarsdale Centre.  If we had ever known 

beforehand the complications associated with a 

Greenfields development, then we may have 

thought twice about it.  It has been a huge 

learning curve for all the staff from biweekly 

meetings with the design team and contractors 

and all the associated reporting requirements, to 

the community engagements and multiple 

meetings with community and stakeholders and 

all the while trying to manage expectations and 

dealing with over 70 Variation Orders on the 

construction. The Administration requirement has 

been huge with all the staff from operations to 

admin and finances putting in many extra hours to 

ensure this ran smoothly. 

At the same time the Hammarsdale development 

has been hugely rewarding dealing with the 

Green Fund, DEA and the community. Also, 

massive national and international 

acknowledgement of the site has been through 

CoGTA, provincial Economic Development, 

National Treasury, Dow Chemicals in Geneva, 

SITRA in Finland and the American Artisan Hub.  

We are working to convert some of this interest to 

funding in the 2020 financial year.   We need to 

finalise the operational budget with the city and 

this was compiled through external consultants 

appointed by the city, yet still to be considered by 

the city. 

Permanent electricity, water and sewage 

connections have made life a little easier, but the 

Mpumalanga area is subject to multiple electricity 

and water outages every month.  We need to 

address internal self-sufficiency options for the 

future 

We are still hoping to revive the Compressed Earth 

Block options and the opportunities at hand have 

been discussed in this report.  The Glass project is 

still needing financing, but we have made some 

strong inroads into developing small-scale 

commercial operations that are looking promising 

for future expansion with relocation to 

Hammarsdale expected before the end of 2019. 

The existing Enterprise Development projects and 

other projects we have been assisting still allow us 

to firmly illustrate that the impact of USE-IT is direct 

savings to the city on landfill diversion that save 

the city many times more than their funding, 

showing that we are still successfully meeting the 

key deliverables of job creation and waste 

diversion.  We need additional resources to make 

greater impact and this is a key drive for USE-IT in 

the years to come. Specifically, pertinent to this is 

that eThekwini have signed a new three-year 

agreement to fund USE-IT, and one of the key 

elements of this new plan is to grow the company, 

but also address transformation within the 

company to align ourselves more with the 

national objectives. 

USE-IT does need to create more partnerships to 

help unlock project opportunities and this will also 

be accelerated in future years, but on the 

understanding that we will require greater 

resources and capacity to do so.  We are in the 

throes of engaging a couple of international 

agencies in partnerships which is largely only 

possible now because of the track-record of the 

company and nine years of clean Annual 

Financial Statements.  We are waiting and 

planning for that exponential growth that will take 

USE-IT to the next level and to do so we will more 

than ever require USE-IT’s networks, collaborations 

and partners to work with us in achieving a 

collective vision. 

Board of Directors 

A huge vote of thanks must go to the Board 

members currently serving on the Board of 

Directors detailed below.  Their commitment, 

enthusiasm, involvement and guidance have 

been invaluable.  All their time and involvement 

has been donated to USE-IT in their collective 

vision of establishing a vibrant, sustainable and 

successful waste beneficiation value chain for the 

eThekwini Municipality and beyond.  We have to 

remember that our Board Directors are all 
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volunteers with no financial compensation, and 

yet we still ask for our pound of flesh which they 

willingly give. 

Board Governance Framework 

The board of management are required by the 

Companies Act of South Africa, to maintain 

adequate accounting records and are 

responsible for the content and integrity of the 

annual financial statements and related financial 

information included in this report.  

It is their responsibility to ensure that the financial 

statements fairly present the state of affairs of the 

organization as at the end of the financial year 

and the results of its operations and cash flows for 

the period then ended, in conformity with 

International Financial Reporting Standard for 

Small and Medium-sized Entities. The external 

auditor is engaged to express an independent 

opinion on the annual financial statements. 

The financial statements are prepared in 

accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standard for Small and Medium-sized 

Entities and are based upon appropriate 

accounting policies consistently applied and 

supported by reasonable and prudent 

judgements and estimates. 

The board of management acknowledge that 

they are ultimately responsible for the system of 

internal financial control established by the 

organization and place considerable importance 

on maintaining a strong control environment. To 

enable the board of management to meet these 

responsibilities, the board of management sets 

standards for internal control aimed at reducing 

the risk of error or loss in a cost-effective manner.  

The standards include the proper delegation of 

responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, 

effective accounting procedures and adequate 

segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable 

level of risk. 

These controls are monitored throughout the 

organization and all employees are required to 

maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring 

the organization’s business is conducted in a 

manner that in all reasonable circumstances is 

above reproach. The focus of risk management in 

the organization is on identifying, assessing, 

managing and monitoring all known forms of risk 

across the organization. While operating risk 

cannot be fully eliminated, the organization 

endeavors to minimize it by ensuring that 

appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and 

ethical behavior are applied and managed 

within predetermined procedures and constraints. 

The board of management are of the opinion, 

based on the information and explanations given 

by management, that the system of internal 

control provides reasonable assurance that the 

financial records may be relied on for the 

preparation of the annual financial statements. 

However, any system of internal financial control 

can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, 

assurance against material misstatement or loss. 

The board of management are satisfied that the 

organization has access to adequate resources to 

continue in operational existence for the 

foreseeable future.   

The financial statements set out on pages 6 to 16, 

which have been prepared on the going concern 

basis, were approved by the board of 

management on 22 October 2019 and are 

authorized for signature by the Board Members 

listed on the following page:  
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Board Members 

 

Mr Paulos Ngcobo – Background with NUMSA and COSATU and 
KZN Legislature and now in the Private Sector 

PORTFOLIO: 
Oversight 

 

Mr Quade Corder – Senior Manager: Quality, OHSE & Sustainability 
for CHEP 

PORTFOLIO: 
Project Oversight 

 

Mark Liptrot – Afripack: Group Sustainability Manager  
PORTFOLIO: 
Governance 

 

Linus Naik – Group Sustainability Manager: Don’t Waste Services 
and Chairman of the USE-IT Board 

PORTFOLIO: 
Project Oversight 
& Governance 

 

Jessica Chaplin – Development Manager: Sophia Foundation 
PORTFOLIO: 
Project Oversight 

 

Heidi Cox - Chairperson of the South African Dyers’ and Finishers’ 
Association 

PORTFOLIO: 
Project Oversight 

 

Mohamed Shaik Amod - CFA– founder and CEO of Green Dome 
Capital 

PORTFOLIO: 
Financial 
Oversight 

 

Thank you for your continued support. 

 

 

 

CHRIS WHYTE: FOUNDER & DIRECTOR 
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